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Private Asset Management JSC 

 
MANAGEMENT CONFIRMATION ON RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION AND 

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 

2012 

 

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the description of the auditors’ 

responsibilities contained in the presented independent auditors' report, is made in order to distinguish between 

the responsibilities of independent auditors and management in relation to the Financial Statements of Private 

Asset Management JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”). 

 

The Management is responsible for preparation of the Financial Statements that fairly present the Company's 

financial position as of December 31, 2022, as well as the results of operations, changes in equity and cash 

flows for the year ended December 31, 2022, under International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter 

referred to as “IFRS”). 

 

During the preparation of the Financial Statements, the Management is responsible for 

 

• selection of appropriate accounting principles and their consistent application; 

• application of meaningful estimates and accounts; 

• application of IFRS requirements; 

• preparation of the Financial Statements based on the premise on the Company’s continuation of its 

business in the foreseeable future, except for cases when such premise is unlawful. 

 

Management is also responsible for: 

 

• development, implementation and maintenance of an effective and reliable system of internal control in 

the Company; 

• maintenance of accounting system, allowing at any time with a sufficient degree of accuracy, to prepare 

information on the Company's financial position and ensure compliance of the Financial Statements 

with the IFRS requirements; 

• accounting records maintenance under the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan; 

• taking measures within its competence to protect the Company’s assets;  

• identification and prevention of fraud, mistakes and other abuses. 

 

The Management reasonably believes that the Company will continue its operation in the foreseeable future. 

The Company's Financial Statements are therefore prepared under the going concern principle. 

 

These Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, were approved by the Company's 

management on April 28, 2023. 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Private Asset Management JSC: 

 

 

/Signature/ /Signature/ 

Imanbayev A.K.                                                                     Zhamanakov A.M. 
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant 

 

L.S. 

/Seal: Republic of Kazakhstan * Joint Stock Company * Private Asset Management/ 
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The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of specified Financial Statements under 

IFRS and for the internal control system that the Management considers necessary for preparation of the 

Financial Statements are free of material errors and omissions due to fraud or errors. 

When the Financial Statements are prepared, the Management is responsible for assessment of the Company’s 

ability to fulfill its activity, for disclosure, as appropriate, of information relating to business continuity, as well 

as for drawing up reports based on the going concern basis, except for the Management intends to liquidate the 

Company, to stop its activity, or when it has no other real alternative save as the liquidation or termination. 
 
The persons responsible for corporate governance are responsible for supervision over preparation of the 

Company's Financial Statements. 
 
 

Auditors’ Responsibility for Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and in issue of the auditors' report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance presents a high degree of assurance but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted under 

the ISA always determines material misstatements if any. Misstatements may be the result of fraud or errors and 

are considered significant if it can reasonably be assumed that they can affect individually or in combination the 

economic decisions of users made based on these Financial Statements. 
 
We apply professional judgment and an attitude of professional skepticism throughout the audit within the audit 

performed under the ISA. Besides, we perform as follows: 

• identify and assess the material misstatement risks of the Financial Statements due to fraud or errors; 

develop and perform audit procedures in response to these risks; obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to serve as a basis to express our opinion. The risk of not detecting of material misstatement as a 

result of fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting of material misstatement as a result of error, because 

fraud may include collusion, fraud in act, intentional omission, data misrepresentation or circumvention of 

the internal control system. 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system that is relevant to audit in order to develop audit 

procedures appropriate for the circumstances but not for the purpose to express an opinion on effectiveness 

of the Company's internal control system; 

• assess an appropriate nature of the accounting policies applied and reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and corresponding disclosure of information prepared by the Management; 

• conclude the Management’s eligibility to accept the assumption of business continuity and, based on the 

audit evidences obtained, make the conclusion is whether there is considerable uncertainty in connection 

with events or conditions that could give rise to significant doubts as to the Company’s ability to continue 

performance of its business continuously. If we conclude that there is considerable uncertainty, we should 

draw attention to relevant disclosure of information in the financial statements in our Auditor Report, or if 

such disclosure is inappropriate modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained before the date of our audit report. However, future events or conditions may result in the 

Company’s loss of ability to continue its business. 

• assess the Financial Statements presentation, its structure and content including disclosure of information, as 

well as whether the Financial Statements present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

ensures their faithful representation. 

 

We perform the exchange of information with persons responsible for corporate governance bringing to its 

notice but not limited to information on the planned audit scope and terms, as well as significant remarks under 

the audit results, including major deficiencies in the internal control system we identified during the audit. 

  



Page 6 from 62 

 

We also provide to persons responsible for corporate governance a statement of our compliance with all relevant 

ethical requirements with regard to independence and have informed these persons about all relationships and 

other matters that can reasonably be considered influencing the independence of the auditor and, where 

necessary, appropriate preventive measures.  

 

 

 
Auditor 

ALMIR CONSULTING LLP      

Qualification certificate of the auditor /Signature/ Iskendirova G.K. 

/Seal: Republic of Kazakhstan * Iskandirov Gulnar Kassymovna * Auditor * No. MF-0000101/ 
No. МФ-0000101 dated September 03, 2012 

 

 

April 28, 2023 

Almaty City 
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Private Asset Management JSC 

 

 

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

as of December 31, 2022 

 
(thous. KZT)  

Notes December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 (revised)* 

Assets 
  

 

Cash  6 329,426 77,550 

Deposits placed 7 49,000 - 

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit or a 

loss; 
8 507,825 245,838 

Fee-based income receivable 9 1,348 95,571 

Inventories  - 62 

Other short-term assets 10 62,252 257,061 

Deferred tax assets 11 1,995 6,612 

Property, plant and equipment 12 5,266 6,774 

Intangible assets 13 1,063 2,223 

Total assets  958,175 691,691  
   

Liabilities    

Accounts Payable 14 64,635 6,236 

Other short-term liabilities 15 37,132 37,227 

Total Liabilities  101,767 43,463  
   

Capital    

Authorized capital 16 700,000 700,000 

Retained earnings (loss) 
 

156,408 (51,772) 

Total capital 
 

856,408 648,228 

Total liabilities and equity 
 

958,175 691,691 
 

*Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 
 

 
Private Asset Management JSC 

 

 

 

 

/Signature/ /Signature/ 

Imanbayev A.K.                                                                     Zhamanakov A.M. 
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant 

 

L.S. 

/Seal: Republic of Kazakhstan * Joint Stock Company * Private Asset Management/ 

 

The notes on pages 11 to 38 are an integral part of the Financial Statements 

 

 

 

 

 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Private Asset Management JSC 

 

 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 
(thous. KZT)  

Note 2022 2021 

(revised)* 

Fee income/(expense), net 17 30,162 174,603 

Interest income/(loss) calculated using the effective interest rate, net 18 3,877 3,093 

Net income/(loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, net 
19 

           

4,077,663  

 

77,770 

Net income/(loss) from financial assets at fair value through other 

consolidated income 
20 - (696) 

Net income/(loss) from foreign currency revaluation, net 21 (41,198) 2,290 

Total incomes  4,070,504 257,060 

Operating expenses 22 (2,251,263) (196,759) 

Other income (expenses), net 23 (75,360) (8,162) 

Total expenses  (2 326 623) (204,921) 

Profit Before Tax  1,743,881 52,139 

Expenditures on income tax 24 (323,701) (107) 

Profit for the reporting period  1,420,180 52,032 

Other Consolidated Income (Loss)    

Other consolidated income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods: 
   

Gains/(losses) on revaluation of debt financial assets at fair value 

through other consolidated income 
 

               -  

 

                 

9,083 

 

Net other consolidated income/(loss) to be reclassified to profit or 

loss in subsequent periods  
               -  

 

                 

9,083 

 

Other consolidated income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods: 
   

Gains/(losses) on revaluation of equity financial assets at fair value 

through other consolidated income  
               -  

 

               

7,586 

 

Net other consolidated income/(loss) not to be reclassified to profit 

or loss in subsequent periods 
 

               -  

 

               

7,586 

 

Other consolidated income for the year  - 16,669 

Total consolidated income for the year  1,420,180 68,701 

Income per share (KZT) 25 4,733.93 173.44 
 

*Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 
 

 

Private Asset Management JSC 

 

/Signature/ /Signature/ 

Imanbayev A.K.                                                                     Zhamanakov A.M. 
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant 

 

L.S. 

/Seal: Republic of Kazakhstan * Joint Stock Company * Private Asset Management/ 

 

The notes on pages 11 to 38 are an integral part of the Financial Statements 

 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Private Asset Management JSC 

 

 

 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

 

 
(thous. KZT) 

 

Authorized 

capital 

Revaluation provisions for 

financial assets at fair value 

through other consolidated 

income 

Retained earnings 

(loss) 

Total 

Balance as of December 31, 

2021 
700,000 - (51,772) 648,228 

Profit for the reporting period - - 1,420,180 1,420,180 

Declared dividends - - (1,212,000) (1,212,000) 

Balance as of December 31, 

2022 
700,000 - 156,408 856,408 

     

Balance as of December 31, 

2020 
700,000 1,271 (121,744) 579,527 

Profit for the reporting period - - 52,032 52,032 

Other consolidated income for 

the reporting period 
- 16,669 - 16,669 

Realized (gains)/losses on 

equity financial assets at fair 

value through other 

consolidated income, 

reclassified to retained earnings 

- (17,940) 17,940 - 

Declared dividends - - - - 

Balance as of December 31, 

2021 
700,000 - (51,772) 648,228 

 

 

Private Asset Management JSC 

 

/Signature/ /Signature/ 

Imanbayev A.K.                                                                     Zhamanakov A.M. 
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant 

 

L.S. 

/Seal: Republic of Kazakhstan * Joint Stock Company * Private Asset Management/ 

 

The notes on pages 11 to 38 are an integral part of the Financial Statements 

 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Private Asset Management JSC 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended December 31, 2022  

(indirect method) 
(thous, KZT)  

2022 2021 (revised)* 

Net profit before tax 1,743,881 52,139 

Adjustments for non-cash operating items, including: (80,797) 14,963 

Depreciation and amortization 4,423 4,737 

Loans provisions change (87,231) 8,002 

Accrued provisions for unused vacations of employees 2,951 12,641 

Change in the value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (73,109) (77,549) 

Net gain/loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value through other 

consolidated income 
- (135) 

Change in the value of financial assets at fair value through other consolidated 

income 
- 16,669 

Net (income)/expense from foreign currency revaluation 41,198 (2,290) 

Amortization of discount on financial assets (1,386) (1,705) 

Other adjustments for non-monetary items 32,357 54,593 

Operating income (loss) before changes in operating assets and liabilities 1,663,084 67,102 

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:  (268,880) 76,206 

(Increase) decrease in reverse REPO operations - 102,008 

(Increase) decrease in deposits placed (49,000)  

(Increase) decrease in short-term receivables 94,223 (63,715) 

(Increase) decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (261,987) (35,709) 

(Increase) decrease in financial assets at fair value through other consolidated 

income 
- 67,258 

(Increase) decrease in other assets (52,116) 6,364 

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities: 56,264 31,135 

Increase (decrease) in short-term accounts payable 58,399 5,210 

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (2,135) 25,925 

Net cash flow from operating activities before income tax                      1,450,468 174,443 

Corporate Income Tax Paid (225,300) (217,585) 

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,225,168 (43,142) 

Cash receipts and payments related to investment activities   

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (2,016) - 

Repayment of a loan by a related party 160,434 23,645 

Net cash flow from investing activities  158,418 23,645 

Cash receipts and payments related to financial activities   

Dividends paid (1,212,000) - 

Net cash flow from financing activities 1,212,000 - 

Total increase (decrease) in cash for the reporting period 171,586 (19,497) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the cash balance 

 in foreign currency  
80,290 316 

Cash balance as of the beginning of the period 77,550 96,731 

Cash balance as of the end of the period  329,426 77,550 
*Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 
 

Private Asset Management JSC 

 

/Signature/ /Signature/ 

Imanbayev A.K.                                                                      Zhamanakov A.M. 
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant 

 

L.S. 

/Seal: Republic of Kazakhstan * Joint Stock Company * Private Asset Management/ 

 

The notes on pages 11 to 38 are an integral part of the Financial Statements 

 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/
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1. General Part           

Private Asset Management Joint Stock Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) was established on 

June 20, 2007. The Company was re-registered on May 19, 2008, by the Department of Justice in the Almaty 

city of the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
 

Legal and actual address: 301, Nursultan Nazarbayev avenue, office 22 “в”, Medeu district, Almaty city, 

Republic of Kazakhstan. 
 

As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company’s authorized capital was formed in the amount 

of KZT 700,000,000 (seven hundred million). 1,500,000 (one million five hundred thousand) common shares 

were announced, of which 300,000 (three hundred thousand) shares were placed and paid. 
 

According to the extract from the register of shareholders, the sole shareholder of the Company is Smailov 

Arman Karatayevich, an individual, a resident of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
 

The Company performs investment portfolio management activities combined with brokerage and dealer 

activities based on license No. 4.2.92/217 dated June 18, 2014, issued by the National Bank of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan.  

 

The actual number of employees as of December 31, 2022 is 18 persons and 21 persons as of December 31, 

2021. 

 

2. Basis for Preparation of the Financial Statements 

 
These Financial Statements have been prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

The reporting period for the Company is a calendar year. 

 

Elements of the Financial Statements are assessed. and reports on them are kept in the national currency of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan, in thousands of KZT. Transactions in other currencies are considered as transactions in 

a foreign currency. 

 

The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements that are capable 

to present the Company's financial position accurately and at any time.  

 

When the Financial Statements are prepared, there are two fundamental assumptions - the use of the accrual 

method and the on a going-concern basis. 

 

Accrual Financial Statements inform users not only about past transactions related to the payment and receipt of 

cash but also about obligations to pay money in the future, and about resources representing cash that will be 

received in the future.  

 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which means that assets are sold and 

liabilities are settled in the normal course of business. These Financial Statements do not contain adjustments 

required if the Company could not continue its financial and economic activities based on the on a going-

concern basis. 
 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, with the exception of certain financial 

instruments measured at fair value. 
 

The preparation of the Financial Statements requires the management to use subjective estimates and 

assumptions that affect the amounts recognized in the Financial Statements. These subjective estimates are 

based on information available at the date of the Financial Statements. Information available at the date of the 

Financial Statements was used for principal estimates, so actual results may differ from these subjective 

estimates. 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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3. Key Accounting Policies 

 
Cash  

Cash includes cash in hands, current accounts with banks and institutions with maturities within ninety days of 

origin, not encumbered by any contractual obligations, readily convertible to a certain amount of cash and 

subject to an insignificant risk of change value, not burdened by any contractual obligations. 

Deposits placed 

Bank deposits include cash placed on deposit accounts with second-tier banks for fixed periods of one month or 

more. Bank deposits are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Financial Assets 

The classification of financial assets upon initial recognition is determined based on two business models under 

which the Company manages financial assets: 

• A business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to receive contractual cash flows whereby the 

Company accounts for cash, deposits placed, commissions receivable, loans provided to the shareholder and 

employees.    

• A business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 

assets whereby the Company accounts for financial instruments in the form of equity securities.  

• A business model whose objective is achieved by selling financial assets whereby the Company accounts for 

financial instruments in the form of debt and equity securities. 
 

A business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows is to recognize financial 

assets at historical cost. The business model, whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows 

and selling financial assets, is to record financial assets at fair value through other consolidated income. A 

business model whose objective is achieved by selling financial assets is to record financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss. 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost only if it meets both of the following conditions: 

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest accruing on the principal amount outstanding.  

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 

recognition, minus principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization of the difference between that 

initial amount and the amount payable at maturity, calculated using the effective method interest rate adjusted 

for loss allowance.  

A financial asset must be measured at fair value through other consolidated income if both of the following 

conditions are met: 

1) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual 

cash flows and by selling financial assets, and 

2) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 

A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortized cost in 

line with or at fair value through other consolidated income. 

 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Equity debt financial instruments traded on organized markets, which the Company acquires for the purpose to 

sell them in the short term, are classified as “at fair value through profit or loss” and are recorded at fair value.  

The classification of financial assets does not change after initial recognition except in the period following the 

Company's change in the business model for management of financial assets. It is expected that such changes 

will occur very rarely, as a result of significant internal or external changes. Significant change can only occur 

when  

the Company will start or cease to perform one or another activity that is significant in relation to its operations 

(acquisition, disposal or termination by the Company of a certain line of business).  

 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses for all financial assets measured at amortized 

cost. 

 

On initial recognition of a financial asset, the Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses in an 

amount equal to 12-month expected credit loss.  

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses due to default events on a financial 

instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.  

If, after initial recognition, the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly, the Company 

recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses in an amount equal to expected lifetime of the credit loss.  

The allowance for expected credit losses is presented in the Financial Statements as follows: 

• for financial assets measured at amortized cost - as a reduction of the gross carrying amount of such 

assets. The book value is reduced by creating an allowance for expected credit losses as a contractual 

account of the respective asset accounts. Financial assets measured at amortized cost recognized as 

uncollectible are written off against the valuation reserve. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are reversed against such reserve. The change in the provisions is recognized in profit or 

loss. 

 

A of each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence of impairment of 

financial assets measured at amortized cost for their credit impairment, except for equity financial assets. A 

financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events occur that have a negative effect on the estimated 

future cash flows of that financial asset. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes, inter alia, the following observable data:  

• significant financial difficulties of the issuer or a counterparty; 

• violation of the contract terms (for example: refusal or evasion from payment of interest or principal 

amount of the debt); 

• high probability of bankruptcy or financial reorganization of the issuer; 

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset due to financial difficulties; 

• a retrospective analysis of the maturity of accounts receivable, showing that the entire nominal amount of 

accounts receivable cannot be collected. 

 

When expected credit losses in cash and fee and commission income receivable are assessed, the Company uses 

practical expedients. The calculation of expected credit losses for such assets is made using an allowance 

matrix. The Company uses its past credit loss experience to estimate 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime 

expected credit losses, respectively. The allowance matrix establishes fixed allowance rates depending on the 

number of days past due in the case of fee income receivable: 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Number of days overdue Reserve size (%) 

There is no delay - 

Payments are overdue for more than 90 days but less than 180 days 50 

Payments are overdue for more than 180 days 100 

Contract extension 5 

 

Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss or 

financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost. 
 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities 

Accounts payable and other liabilities are initially recorded at fair value, and then at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. 

 

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and stated net in the statement of financial position when the Company 

has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts, and the Company intends to settle on a net 

basis or realize the asset and liability simultaneously. In the case of a financial asset transfer that does not 

qualify for derecognition, the Company does not recognize this offset of the transferred asset and the associated 

liability. 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises financial liabilities only in the event of their repayment, cancellation or expiration 

of the claim on them. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, the exchange or 

modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised financial liability and the consideration paid or 

payable is recognized in profit or loss. 

  

Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are accounted for by the Company at historical cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes the 

purchase price, including non-refundable taxes and fees paid, as well as costs directly attributable to bringing 

the assets to working condition for their intended use. 

If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of separate components having different useful lives, each 

of them is accounted for as a separate item (significant component) of property, plant and equipment. 

Capitalized costs include major expenses to improve or replace parts that extend the useful life of an asset or 

increase its ability to generate economic benefits in its use. Repair and maintenance costs that do not meet the 

above capitalization criteria are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. After initial recognition, property, plant 

and equipment is measured at cost. 

Depreciation is charged and recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

the individual assets. Depreciation is charged at the following asset depreciation rates:  
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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 Useful life (years) 

Vehicles 5 

Office machines and computers  3 

Others 3-5 
 

The estimated useful life and depreciation method and recovery value are estimated at the end of each reporting 

period and any changes in the estimate are taken into account on a prospective basis. 

Gain or loss on the sale or disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the proceeds from the 

sale and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
 

Intangible assets  

Initial recognition of intangible assets is made at cost. After recognition, intangible assets are measured at 

historical cost, which is the sum of the cash costs for their acquisition, including paid non-refundable taxes and 

fees and other costs directly related to bringing the objects of intangible assets into a state of readiness for their 

intended use. The cost of intangible assets is subject to monthly amortization using the straight-line (uniform) 

write-off method and terminates after the full write-off of their initial cost. Depreciation is calculated under the 

following average useful lives of the assets 
 

 

 Useful life (years) 

Software 3 – 5 

 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date of the Financial Statements, the Company assesses whether there are any indications that 

the fair value of non-financial assets may be impaired. If any such indication is identified, an assessment is 

made to determine if the asset recovery cost may be impaired. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount for an individual asset, the Company determines the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is less than its carrying amount, then the carrying 

amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to the asset recoverable amount. Any impairment loss is 

recognized as an expense. 

 

Lease 

At the time the contract is made, the Company assesses whether the contract is a lease, or whether it contains 

signs of a lease. In other words, the Company determines whether the contract transfers the right to control the 

use of an identifiable asset for a specified period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 

The Company as a short-term tenant  

The Company applies the right-of-use asset recognition exemption and lease liability in respect of short-term 

leases to lease agreements for office space. Short-term lease payments are recognized as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 

Taxation 

Income tax includes current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss unless it relates to 

items recognized directly in equity or other consolidated income. In these cases, it is recognized in equity or 

other consolidated income. Taxable income differs from net income recognized in profit or loss because it does 

not include items of income and expenses that are taxable or deductible for tax purposes, and it also excludes 

items that are not taxable or deductible for tax purposes. Current tax is the expected tax to be paid on the taxable 

income for the year, calculated using tax rates effective as of the date of the financial reporting, and any tax 

adjustments payable in respect to the previous years.  

Deferred income tax is determined using the liability method, taking into account temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities used for financial reporting purposes and those used for 

tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates expected to be applied to the period 

when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on the current or declared tax rates at the reporting 

date. 
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A deferred tax asset is recorded just to the extend that there is a possibility of the future taxable income which 

can be used to cover temporary differences, unused tax losses and credits. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 

extend that realization of the tax asset becomes impossible.  

The balance value of the deferred tax assets is reviewed at each date of the financial reporting and reduced to the 

extend that there is no more possibility of taking benefits from the tax assets realization, sufficient for full or 

partial recovery of the asset. 

There are a number of taxes and fees related to the Company's operations besides income tax in the Republic of 

Kazakhstan. These taxes are included in administrative expenses as part of the Company's profit or loss for the 

reporting period 

 

Capital 

Authorized capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Third party fees directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other 

than on a business combination, are charged to equity as a deduction from the proceeds from the issue. Any 

excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as additional 

paid-in capital.  

 

Dividends  

The Company’s ability to declare and pay dividends is subject to the regulation of the current legislation of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan.  

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in the Financial Statements as a use of retained earnings when they 

are declared. 
 

Recognition of incomes and expenses 
 

Fee and commission income 

The Company earns commission income from various types of services it provides to clients. 

Commissions earned from provision of the services over a specified period of time are accrued over that period. 

Such items include fee and commission income and fees from brokerage, asset management and advisory 

services. 
 

Brokerage services 

 

Brokerage revenue is recognized at a point in time, as control of the service performed is transferred when the 

service is rendered, at the date of the transaction. 

 

Investment portfolio management services 

 

The reimbursement consists of two components: a management fee based on the average asset value for closed-

end mutual funds, an average total asset value for interval mutual funds, and a performance fee that is due if a 

certain level of return is reached. The performance fee is recognized by the Company at a certain point in time. 

 

Consulting services 

 

Revenue from the provision of consulting services is recognized at a point in time, as control of the service 

performed is transferred when the service is rendered. 
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Recognition of interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other consolidated income 

using the effective interest method, except for interest income and expense on financial assets held for trading 

and other financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss for the reporting period. Interest 

income on financial assets held for trading and other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

includes coupon income only. 

Accrued discounts and premiums on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in 

profit less losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, respectively. 

 

Recognition of income from REPO and "reverse REPO” operations  

Gains/losses on the sale of the above financial instruments are recognized as interest income or expense in the 

statement of profit or loss and other consolidated income based on the difference between the repurchase price 

accrued to date using the effective interest method and the selling price of such instruments to third parties. 

 
Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction in the principal market at the measurement date under current market conditions, whether that price 

is directly observable or calculated using another estimation method. 

 

The Company must have access to the main or most favorable market. The fair value of an asset or liability is 

measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when the price of the asset or liability is 

determined, assuming that market participants act in their best interests. The fair value measurement of a non-

financial asset takes into account the ability of market participants to generate economic benefits from using the 

asset in its best and most efficient use or selling it to another market participant that will use the asset in its best 

and most efficient use. 

 

The Company uses valuation methods that are acceptable in the circumstances and for which data sufficient to 

measure fair value are available, while making maximum use of relevant observable inputs and minimal use of 

unobservable inputs. 

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Financial Statements are classified 

within the fair value hierarchy described below, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole. 
 

- Level 1 - Quoted market prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities (without any adjustments); 

- Level 2 - Valuation models where inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement are directly or 

indirectly observable in the market; 

- Level 3 - Valuation models where the lowest level inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement are 

not observable in the market. 

 

In the case of assets and liabilities recognized in the Financial Statements on a periodic basis, the Company 

determines the fact of a transfer between levels of sources of the hierarchy by reanalyzing the classification 

(based on the lowest level inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 

reporting period. 
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Reserves, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognized when: 

- the Company has an existing obligation (legal or imputed) as a result of a past event; 

- it is probable that there will be a need for some outflow of resources to fulfill this responsibility; 

- the amount of the liability can be estimated reliably. 

Contingent Liabilities mean the present liability arising from past events which is not recognized because the 

demand of the resources disposal to fulfill the liability is not probable, or the liability amount cannot be assessed 

reliably.  

Contingent Liabilities are not recognized but are subject to disclosure, except to the extent that possibility of the 

resources is disposal is unlikely. 

Contingent Assets are not recorded in the financial statement but are subject to disclosure when economic 

benefits are probable. 

 

Related parties disclosures 

A party is considered to be related to the Company, if this party controls the Company or is controlled by the 

Company directly or indirectly through one or several mediators; has a share in the Company that ensures a 

significant influence over it in making financial and operational decisions.  

Operations between related parties mean transfer of resources, services or liabilities between these related 

parties, whether charged or not.  

 
Earnings per share:  

Earnings per share is calculated by division of the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting period 

 
Foreign currency revaluation  

The functional currency of the Company is the currency of the primary economic environment where the 

Company operates. The functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency of the Company's 

Financial Statements is the national currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan, i.е. thous. KZT. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the exchange rate of KZT at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into KZT at the 

exchange rates prevailing at the date of the Financial Statements. Gains and losses resulting from the conversion 

of transactions in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss as income less expenses from transactions in 

foreign currencies. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are converted using the 

exchange rates at the dates of the original transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are converted using the exchange rates at the date the fair value was determined.  

 

The following are the year-end exchange rates used by the Company in preparation of its Financial Statements: 

 
 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

KZT/US$1 462.65 431.67 

KZT /RUR 1 6.43 5.77 

 

Events after the Reporting Date  

Events after the reporting date are the events, both favorable or unfavorable that happen during the period 

between the reporting date and the approval date of the Financial Statements. Events confirming the existence of 

a condition as of the reporting date are recorded in the Financial Statements (adjusting events). Events 

representing conditions arose after the reporting date are not recorded the in Financial Statements (not adjusting 

events). If non-adjusting events are material, they should be disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements. 
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New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards and interpretations 

The following amendments to the current standards are effective for reporting periods beginning January 01, 

2022.  

 

• Amendments to IFRS 3 - References to the Conceptual Framework 

  The amendments had no impact on the Company's Financial Statements, as there was no business acquisition 

in the reporting period.  

• Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before the Intended Use 

The amendments had no impact on these Financial Statements as the Company does not have production 

fixed assets;  

• Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts – Costs to Perform a Contract 

The amendments had no impact on these Financial Statements due to the absence of contracts under which 

the Company did not fulfill its obligations at the beginning of the reporting period (the date of initial 

application of the amendments);  

• Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - First 

time adopter of International Financial Reporting Standards 

The amendments had no impact on these Financial Statements as the Company is not a first-time adopter of 

IFRS;  

• Amendment to IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" - fee for the "10% test" in case of derecognition of 

financial liabilities 

The amendments had no impact on these Financial Statements as there were no modifications to the 

Company's financial liabilities during the reporting period;  

• Amendment to IAS 41 Agriculture - Taxation in the measurement of the fair value,  

The amendment is not applicable to the Company. 

 

Standards that have been issued but not yet effective 
 

The following are standards and amendments to existing standards that have been issued but are not yet 

effective as of the date the Company's Financial Statements are issued. The Company intends to apply these 

standards and amendments to existing standards, if applicable, from the date of their entry into force.  

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective from January 01, 2023, early application is permitted; 

• Amendments to IAS 1 – “Classification of liabilities as current or non-current”, effective from 

January 01, 2023, applied retrospectively;  

• Amendments to IAS 8 - Determination of Accounting Estimates, effective from January 01, 2023, 

early application is allowed; 

• Amendments to IAS 1 and Practice Guideline No. 2 on the Application of IFRS - Accounting 

Policies Disclosures are effective from January 01, 2023, early application is permitted. 

• Amendments to IAS 12 – “Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single 

Transaction” are effective from January 01, 2023, early application is allowed. 
 

 

Currently, the Company's management is assessment of the impact of new standards and changes in existing 

standards on Financial Statements and performance results.  
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4. Areas of Significant Management Estimates and Sources of Estimate Uncertainty 

 
The preparation of the Company's Financial Statements requires management to make estimates that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date, as well as the amounts of income and expenses 

during the period ended. The Management regularly evaluates its judgments and estimates. The Management 

bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various factors believed to be reasonable in 

the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under various assumptions and conditions.  

 

Estimates and assumptions are considered on a going concern basis. Changes in accounting calculations are 

presented in the period where these changes occurred. 

The key assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that can cause 

significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are discussed below. 

 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

The Company recognizes allowances for expected credit losses on receivables. When expected credit losses are 

assessed the Company applied a simplified approach provided by the standard and calculated the expected credit 

losses for the entire life of these financial assets. The Company has used an allowance model that has been 

prepared taking into account past credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to the borrower and general 

economic conditions. 
 

The Company recognizes lifetime expected credit losses at the time of a significant increase in credit risk since 

the initial recognition of the financial instrument for all other financial instruments.  
 

The Company believes that there has been a significant increase in credit risk if payments under the agreement 

are overdue by more than 90 days. A financial asset is also considered to have defaulted if contractual payments 

are 180 days past due. 
 

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

The Company evaluates the remained useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at least 

at the end of each reporting period, and if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are 

accounted for as changes in accounting estimates under IFRS 8 “Accounting policies, changes in accounting 

estimates and errors”. 
 

Estimation of deferred income tax impact 

As of each reporting date the Company's management defines future impact of deferred income tax through 

reconciliation of balance sheet assets and obligations stated in the Financial Statements with corresponding tax 

base. Deferred assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates applicable to the period where assets are 

expected to be realized, and liabilities - to be settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that the 

future taxable profit is available for deduction of any temporary differences for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets 

are estimated as of each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that there is no possibility to realize 

corresponding tax benefits.  
 

Transactions with related parties 

The Company conducts transactions with related parties, including the issue of loans in the course of its normal 

activities. Under IFRS 9, financial instruments must be initially recognized at fair value. In the absence of an 

active market for such transactions, judgment is used to determine whether transactions are at market or non-

market interest rates. Judgment is based on pricing for similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and 

effective interest rate analysis.  
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5. Revision of comparative information 

Certain amounts in the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021, the statement of profit or loss 

and other consolidated income for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the statement of cash flows for the 

year ended December 31, 2021 have been restated to improvement of the presentation of certain Financial 

Statements.  

In particular, a description of the revised financial statement items is provided below: 

Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2021 

                                                                                       (thous. KZT)  
As shown before Reclassification After the changes 

 

LIABILITIES    

Short-term Estimated Liabilities 5,793 (5,793) - 

Other short-term liabilities 31,434 5,793 37,227 

Total Liabilities 37,227 - 37,227 
 

 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Consolidated Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 

 

                                                                                   (thous. KZT)  
As shown before Reclassification After the changes 

 

Fee and commission income 180,655 (180,655) - 

Fee income/(expense), net - 174,603 174,603 

Income in the form of remuneration  3,590 (3,590) - 

Interest income/(loss) calculated 

using the effective interest rate, net 
- 3,093 3,093 

Income/(expenses) from REPO 

operations 
(497) 497 - 

Other incomes 171 (171)  

Total incomes 183,919 (6,223) 177,696 

Fee and commission expenses (6,052) 6,052 - 

Other expenses (8,333) 8,333 - 

Other income (expenses), net - (8,162) (8,162) 

Total expenses (14,385) 6,223 (8,162) 

Profit Before Tax 52,139 - 52,139 

 
Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 

 
                                                                                    (thous. KZT)  

As shown before Reclassification After the changes 

 

Cash receipts and payments related 

to investment activities 
   

Repayment of a loan by a related 

party 
- 23,645 23,645 
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Net cash flow from investing 

activities  
- 23,645 23,645 

Cash receipts and payments related 

to financial activities 
   

Repayment of a loan by a related 

party 
23,645 (23,645) - 

Net cash flow from financing 

activities 
23,645 (23,645) - 

Total increase (decrease) in cash 

for the reporting period 
(19,497) - (19,497) 

Impact of changes in exchange rates 316 - 316 

Cash balance as of the beginning of 

the period 
96,731 - 96,731 

Cash balance as of the end of the 

period  
77,550 - 77,550 

 
 

6. Cash  
       (thous. KZT) 

  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Cash in hand           102,817             73,009  

Cash on current bank accounts, in KZT            14,353  1,041* 

Cash on current bank accounts in foreign currency           204,717  - 

Cash in Central Securities Depository JSC in KZT               370  500 

Cash on accounts with Kazakhstan Stock Exchange JSC             7,169  3,000* 

           329,426  77,550 
 

* The funds held on current bank accounts and in Kazakhstan Stock Exchange JSC for a total amount of KZT 

4,041 thous. were seized under the Resolution of the Specialized Interdistrict Investigative Court of Almaty 

dated December 14, 2021.  
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 

On July 19, 2022, the pre-trial investigation was terminated and the arrest was canceled (Note 26). 

 

As of December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, customer funds in the amount of KZT 4,286 thous. and KZT 

304,010 thous., respectively, were in the nominee holding system of accounting for customer assets, which are 

not presented in the statement of financial position under the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
 

 

7.  Deposits placed 

                                                                (thous. KZT) 

  December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Bank deposits in KZT 49,000 - 

 

     Deposits as per banks: 
(thous. KZT) 

 Interest rate 
Opening 

date 

Maturity 

date 

December 

31, 2022 

December 

31, 2021 

Subsidiary of VTB Bank JSC 

(Kazakhstan)  
13% 14.09.2022 

14.09.2023 
10,000 - 

Bank Freedom Finance Kazakhstan 

JSC 
13.24% 14.09.2022 14.03.2024 39,000 - 

    49,000 - 
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8. Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit or a loss; 

  (thous. KZT)  
  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Equity securities 165,538 - 

Debt securities 342,287  245,838 
 507,825  245,838 

 
 

Equity securities  ISIN  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Ordinary shares of National Company 

KazMunayGas JSC 
KZ1C00001122 165,538 - 

 
 

 

(thous. KZT) 

Debt securities ISIN Nominal 

interest rate, 

% 

December 

31, 2022  

Nominal 

interest rate, 

% 

December 

31, 2021  

Government bonds:     

Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan 
KZKD00000444 5.50% 479 5.50% 510 

Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan 
KZKD00000550 5.50% 1,186 5.50% 1,234 

Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan 
KZKD00000824 8.65% 1,607 8.65% 1,623 

Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan 
KZKD00000543 5.00% 4,216 5.00% 4,469 

Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan 
KZKD00000535 5.49% 803 5.49% 855 

Total:   8,291  8,691* 

discount securities:      

NATIXIS Structured Products 

Ltd. 
XS0884346684 - 333,996 - 237,147 

Total:   342,287  237,147 

Total:   507,825  245,838 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
* Government bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan in the total amount of KZT 

8,691 thous. were arrested under the Resolution of the Specialized Interdistrict Investigative Court of Almaty 

dated December 14, 2021. On July 19, 2022, the pre-trial investigation was terminated and the arrest was 

canceled (Note 26). 

 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company used market value information from independent sources to 

calculate the fair value of all securities included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are not past due. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include accrued interest income as of December 31, 2022 in 

the amount of KZT 354 thous., as of December 31, 2021 – KZT 356 thous. 

 

9. Fee-based income receivable 
 (thous. KZT) 

  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Consulting services -             108,049  

Brokerage fee 456  1,448  

Services of a representative of bondholders 350 4,652  
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Market maker services               -  688  

Asset management services  542  203  

Allowance for expected credit losses -           (19,469) 
            1,348  95,571  

 
Change in allowance for expected credit losses 

       (thous. KZT)  

  2022 2021 

Balance as of January 1 19,469 17,467 

Charged 93,231 2,002 

Decommissioned  (112,700) - 

Balance as of December 31 - 19,469 

 
10. Other short-term assets 

(thous. KZT) 
  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Other financial assets   

Loans granted to a shareholder* -           160,434 
 -           160,434  

Other assets   
Cash issued under the report             5,143  3,807 

Advances paid            56,995             12,006  

Prepayment for insurance, subscription, etc.               114  323 

Current tax assets - 86,491 

Provision for impairment of advances issued - (6,000) 

  62,252           96,627  
 62,252    257,061  

 

*Debt on a short-term interest-free loan to a shareholder of the Company for a period up to February 28, 2022. 

As of December 31, 2022, the loan is repaid in full. 

 

11. Deferred tax assets 
(thous. KZT) 

 December 31, 

2021 

Due to the change in 

temporary differences 

December 

31, 2022 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities    

Property, equipment and intangible assets (308) 368 60 

Accounts Receivable 5,093 (5,093) - 

Estimated liabilities 1,158 408 1,566 

Unpaid taxes 669 (300) 369 

Deferred tax assets 6,612 (4,617) 1,995 

Deferred tax assets recognized in the Financial 

Statements 
6,612 (4,617) 1,995 

As of December 31, 2022, the Management assessed the recoverability of the deferred tax and concluded that 

the Company may recognize the deferred asset as it is probable that it will generate taxable profits that can be 

used to recover the asset. 

(thous. KZT) 

 December 31, 

2020 

Due to the change in 

temporary differences 

December 

31, 2021 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities    

Property, equipment and intangible assets (679) 371 (308) 

Accounts Receivable 3,493 1,600 5,093 

Estimated liabilities 2,420 (1,262) 1,158 

Unpaid taxes 205 464 669 

Deferred tax assets 5,439 1,173 6,612 

Deferred tax assets recognized in the Financial 

Statements 
5,439 1,173 6,612 
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12. Property, plant and equipment 
     (thous. KZT)  

Vehicles Computers and 

transmission 

devices 

Others Total 

Original cost     

as of Friday, December 31, 2021 41,000 4,657 827 46,484 

Receipt - 6 2,010 2,016 

Disposals - (934) (229) (1,163) 

as of Saturday, December 31, 2022 41,000 3,729 2,608 47,337 

     

Depreciation     

as of Friday, December 31, 2021 37,352 2,033 325 39,710 

Amortization for the period 1,889 1,145 229 3,263 

Depreciation on retired property, plant and 

equipment 
- (737) (165) (902) 

as of Saturday, December 31, 2022 39,241 2,441 389 42,071 
     

Original cost     

as of Thursday, December 31, 2020 41,000 5,578 845 47,423 

Disposals - (921) (18) (939) 

as of Friday, December 31, 2021 41,000 4,657 827 46,484 

Depreciation     

as of Thursday, December 31, 2020 35,463 1,295 177 36,935 

Amortization for the period 1,889 1,522 166 3,577 

Depreciation on retired property, plant and 

equipment 
- (784) (18) (802) 

as of Friday, December 31, 2021 37,352 2,033 325 39,710 

     

Residual value     

as of Saturday, December 31, 2022 1,759 1,288 2,219 5,266 

as of Friday, December 31, 2021 3,648 2,624 502 6,774 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
* A vehicle with an initial cost of KZT 41,000 thous. was seized under the Resolution of the Specialized 

Interdistrict Investigation Court of Almaty dated December 14, 2021. On July 19, 2022, the pre-trial 

investigation was terminated and the arrest was canceled (Note 26). 
 

13. Intangible assets 

 (thous. KZT) 

Software  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Original cost   

as of Friday, December 31, 2021 5,801 5,801 

Disposals - - 

As of December 31, 2022 5,801 5,801 

Depreciation   

As of December 31, 2021 3,578 2,418 

Amortization for the period 1,160 1,160 

as of Saturday, December 31, 2022 4,738             3,578  

Residual value  1,063             2,223  

 

14. Accounts Payable 
       (thous. KZT) 

   December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  

Short-term accounts payable related to operations with 

securities 
              605              1,269  

Accounts payable to suppliers and contractors 63,876 - 

Other accounts payable            154             4,967  

      64,635        6,236  

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 

  



Private Asset Management JSC 

Notes to Financial Statements for the Year Ended on December 31, 2022 (continued) 

 

Page 26 from 62 

 

15. Other short-term liabilities  
(thous. KZT) 

   December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021 

(revised)*  

Advances received             1,597              2,202  

Wages payable             1,772             15,047  

Reserve for unused vacations of employees             7,833  5,793 

            11,202            23,042  

Obligations for taxes and other payments   

Corporate income tax             8,191                598  

Individual Income Tax             9,591              3,878  

Social tax             1,847              3,343  

Obligatory payments              6,301              6,366  

             25,930             14,185  

            37,132             37,227 
*Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 

 

The movement in the provisions for unused vacations of employees is as follows: 
   

(thous. KZT)  
 2022   2021  

Balance as of the beginning 5,793 12,096 

accrued 2,951 12,641 

used (911) (18,944) 

Balance at the end  7,833 5,793 
 

16. Authorized capital 

 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the authorized capital of the Company is 1,500,000 shares, the paid-in 

authorized capital is KZT 700,000 thous. Dividends in the amount of KZT 1,212,000 thous.were accrued and 

paid by decision of the sole shareholder, in 2022. As of the specified dates, Arman Karatayevich Smailov is the 

sole shareholder of the Company.  
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 

An arrest was made for shares of the Company under the Resolution of the specialized inter-district 

investigative court of  

Almaty on December 14, 2021, in the amount of KZT 700,000 thous. On July 19, 2022, the pre-trial 

investigation was terminated and the arrest was canceled (Note 26). 

 
17. Fee income/expense, net 

 
The Company's fee income/(expense) is made up of fee income and expenses from transactions in the securities 

market and includes: 

 

 (thous. KZT) 

Fee and commission income 2022 2021 (revised)* 

Commissions for the management of investment portfolios of securities and 

other asset management services 
59,119 83,285 

Brokerage fees 560 2,037 

Consulting services - 76,213 

Income for the services of the holder’s representative 6,571 12,770 

Income from market maker agreements - 1,266 

Income from reimbursement of services 632 5,084 
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 66,882 180,655 

Fee and commission expenses   

Stock exchange services (161) (422) 

Services of the bank - custodian (1,037) (1,380) 

Services of the central depository (35,522) (4,250) 

 (36,720) (6,052) 

Total: 30,162 174,603 

 
*Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 

 

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in 

the contract with the customer. The Company recognizes revenue as control of the service passes to the 

customer.  

The Company recognizes receivables under contracts with customers when the Company's rights to receive 

compensation for work performed become unconditional.  

 

18. Interest income/(loss) calculated using the effective interest rate, net   

(thous. KZT) 
 2022 2021 (revised)* 

Interest income/(expenses) on financial assets measured at fair value, net 2,004 3,590 

Interest income/(expenses) on assets measured at amortized cost 1,873 (497) 
 3,877 3,093 

 

 
 
 
 

 Interest income on financial assets measured at fair value includes: 

Coupon interest on securities 618 1,885 

Income from amortization of discount on securities 1,386 1,705 

 Interest income/(expense) on assets measured at amortized cost includes:  

Remuneration on deposits placed 1,808 - 

Remuneration for Reverse REPO transactions 125 305 

Remuneration for Direct REPO transactions (60) (802) 
 

Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 

 
19. Net income/(loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net  

  (thous. KZT) 
 2022 2021 

Gains/ (losses) from revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, net 
73,109 (77,549) 

Gains/(losses) from the sale and purchase of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, net 
4,004 554 221 

 4,077 663 77,770 

 

20. Net income/(loss) from financial assets at fair value through other consolidated income, net  
                (thous. KZT) 

 2022 2021 

Gains/ (losses) from revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other 

consolidated income, net 
- 130 

Gains/(losses) from the sale and purchase of financial assets at fair value through 

other consolidated income, net 
- (826) 

 - (696) 
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21. Net income/(loss) from foreign currency revaluation, net 

(thous. KZT) 
 2022 2021 

Foreign currency revaluation income 862,752 27,743 

Expenses from foreign currency revaluation (903,950) (25,453) 
 (41,198) 2,290 

 
22. Operating expenses 

 (thous. KZT) 
 2022 2021 

Payroll 90,334 122,085 

Agency services 1,851,244 - 

Information Services 12,295 13,217 

Office renovation costs 183,017 - 

Lease expenses 10,475 12,894 

Social tax 5,341 9,644 

Other administrative expenses 15,720 3,663 

Depreciation expenses 4,423 4,737 

Software maintenance 27,172 3,526 

Membership fees 2,680 2,231 

Reserve for unused vacations of employees 2,951 12,641 

Social expenditures 1,982 2,272 

Consulting (audit) services 4,540 2,000 

Bank services 4,273 714 

Communication service 2,045 3,178 

Technical support of property, plant and equipment 14,856 - 

Deductions of Compulsory Social Health Insurance 2,298 1,685 

Stationery and household supplies 982 121 

Utility expenses 103 826 

Traveling expenses 12,664 - 

Taxes, Levies and Charges 3 523 

Notarial services 383 102 

Fines and penalties to the budget 1,482 700 

 2,251,263 196,759 

 
23. Other income (expenses), net 

(thous. KZT) 
 2022 2021 (revised)* 

Income/(expenses) from buying/selling foreign currency, net 11,935 (245) 

Expenses related to allowance for expected credit losses, net (93,231) (8,002) 

Income from reversal of allowance for impairment of advances 6,000 - 

Gains/(losses) from disposal of assets (66) 99 

Other income / (expenses) 2 (14) 
 (75,360) (8,162) 

Some amounts shown in this column are not consistent with the Financial Statements for 2021 as they record adjustments made which 

are further disclosed in Note 5. 

 

24. Expenditures on income tax 
 

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 
   

(thous. KZT)  
 2022  2021 

Short-term income tax (316,247) - 

Corporate income tax withheld at source (2,837) (1,280) 
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Deferred Tax (4,617) 1,173 

Total income tax expenses (323,701) (107) 

 

Differences between IFRS and the tax laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan give rise to temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their basis for 

corporate income tax purposes. The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is shown below. 

It is calculated at the tax rates applicable to the period where the claim is realized, or the liability is settled. The 

current income tax rate is 20% according to the current tax legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Reconciliation of the current tax rate 
 

(thous. KZT) 
 2022 2021 

Net profit before tax 1,743,881 52,139 

Statutory income tax rate 20% 20% 

Estimated amount of tax at the established rate  (348,776) (10,428) 

Corporate income tax withholding (2,837) (1,280) 

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income 27,912 11,601 

Total income tax expenses (323,701) (107) 

 

25. Earnings per share: 

 

Main earnings per share for the reporting year is determined by dividing the Company's profit for a given 

period, intended for distribution among holders of ordinary shares of the Company, by the weighted average 

number of its ordinary shares outstanding during this period.  

(thous. KZT) 

 2022 2021 

Net Profit  1,420,180 52,032 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, pieces 300,000 300,000 

Earnings per share (KZT) 4,733.93 173.44 

 

26. Contingent Liabilities 

 
Political and economic conditions in the Republic of Kazakhstan   

Emerging markets, including in the Republic of Kazakhstan, are subject to economic, political, social, litigation 

and regulatory risks that are different from those in more developed countries. Laws and regulations governing 

business in the Republic of Kazakhstan can change rapidly and are subject to arbitrary interpretation. The future 

development direction of the Republic of Kazakhstan to a large extent depends on the tax and monetary policy 

of the state, the laws and regulations adopted, as well as changes in the political situation in the country. 
 

The Company's financial condition and future operations may deteriorate as a result of continuing economic 

problems inherent in an emerging country and the pace of lending to the economy and the population. The 

Company’s Management cannot foresee either the degree or duration of economic difficulties or assess their 

impact, if any, on the Company’s financial results. 

 

Lawsuits 

Customers and contractors may make claims against the Company from time to time in the course of the 

Company's activities.  

In 2021, a pre-trial investigation under Art. 190 of the Criminal Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan was 

conducted in relation to the Company’s shareholder Smailov A.K. In this regard, cash (Note 6), securities held 

in the Company's portfolio (Note 8), the Company's vehicle (Note 12) and shares of the Company (Note 16) 

were seized. On July 19, 2022, the pre-trial investigation was terminated under Article 35, Part 1, Clause 2 of 

the Criminal Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the seizure of A.K. Smailov’s property was canceled. 
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Taxation 

The Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan continues to reform the business and commercial infrastructure 

in the process of transition to a market economy. As a result, the laws and regulations governing the Company's 

operations continue to change rapidly. These changes are characterized by unsatisfactory presentation, varying 

interpretations and arbitrary application by the authorities. 

In particular, taxes are reviewed by several authorities, which by law have the power to impose fines and 

penalties. Lack of reference to provisions in Kazakhstan results in a lack of clarity and integrity of the 

provisions. Frequent contradictions in legal interpretation within government bodies and between companies 

and government bodies create uncertainty and conflict. These facts create tax risks in Kazakhstan that are much 

more significant than those in countries with more developed tax systems. 

The tax authorities have the right to review tax records within five years after the end of the period where the 

taxable base is determined and the tax amount is assessed. Consequently, the Company may be charged 

additional tax liabilities as a result of tax audits. The Company believes that it adequately presented all tax 

liabilities, based on its understanding of tax legislation. 

 

Brokerage 

In the course of its activities, the Company enters into agreements with clients in order to execute their written 

orders for the purchase and sale of securities without the right to make a decision,under certain criteria 

established by the clients. The Company is obliged to strictly follow the instructions of the client, and is liable 

for losses caused by failure to comply with these instructions. However, potential liability for losses or actions 

resulting from investment actions lies with clients. 

 

Fiduciary activities 
 

The Company provides asset management services for joint-stock and mutual investment funds, which implies 

that the Company makes decisions on the placement, purchase and sale of securities and assets that are in trust 

management and are not included in its Financial Statements. As of December 31, 2022, the Company managed 

2 funds. The fair value of the net assets of the joint-stock fund as of December 31, 2022 is KZT 21,074,574 

thous.  

 

 

27. Transactions with related parties 

 
When the possible existence of a relationship between related parties is considered, attention is paid to the 

substance of the relationship, and not just their legal form. Related parties may enter into transactions that would 

not be entered into between unrelated parties. The prices and terms of such transactions may differ from the 

prices and terms of transactions between unrelated parties. 

The Company's activity is controlled by its shareholder. A.K.Smailov is a shareholder of the Company.  

Transactions with related parties were made on terms and conditions agreed between the parties. Loans provided 

during 2022-2021 were short-term, repaid under the terms of the agreements and were not discounted.  

The main transactions with related parties as of December 31, 2022 are as follows:   

(thous. KZT)  
December 31, 

2021 

Issued Redeemed December 

31, 2022 
Description 

Smailov A.K. 160,434 - 160,434 - Loans granted 

Total 160,434 - 160,434 -  
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The main transactions with related parties as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:  

(thous. KZT)  
December 31, 

2020 

Issued Redeemed December 

31, 2021 
Description 

Smailov A.K. 184,079 - (23,645) 160,434 Loans granted 

Total 184,079 - (23,645) 160,434  
 
 

 

The total amount of remuneration to the management personnel received by the members of the Board of 

Directors and the Management Board included in the item “Operating expenses” (Note 22) is as follows:  

                                                                          
 (thous. KZT) 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               2022 2021 

Salaries and bonuses  34,661 62,186 

- including remuneration of the executive body 21,974 17,213 

 
28. Risk management policy 

 

The Company’s financial and economic activities are subject to various risks inherent in business activities in 

Kazakhstan: these risks arise under the influence of such objective factors as economic conditions, changes in 

tax legislation and other regulatory legal acts of the Republic of Kazakhstan, but the Company's management 

manages and monitors all risk fluctuations, in order to minimize their impact on the financial results of their 

activities.  
 

The main risks inherent in the Company’s activities are the risks associated with liquidity, credit risks, risks of 

changes in interest rates and exchange rates that arise for the Company during the reporting period. Below are 

descriptions of the Company's policy regarding the management of these risks. 

 

Risk management structure 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility to identify and control risks but there are also separate 

independent bodies that are responsible for management and control of the risks. 

 

Board 

The responsibility of the Board is to control the Company’s process of risk management. 

 

Management of risks 

The risk management unit is responsible for implementation and maintenance of risk management procedures in 

order to ensure an independent control process. 

 

Risk control 

The risk control division is responsible for monitoring compliance with the principles, risk management policies 

and risk limits. The Company uses a system of double control in risk management based on the separation of 

back office and front office functionality. 

 

 

Internal audit 

The risk management processes taking place in the Company are annually audited by the internal audit division, 

which checks both the sufficiency of the procedures and the implementation of these procedures by the 

Company. The Internal Audit Department discusses the results of the audits conducted with management and 

presents its findings and recommendations.  
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Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk associated, in particular, with the possibility of non-fulfillment of assumed obligations on 

the part of issuers of securities and counterparties to transactions. 

Below is an analysis of financial assets and liabilities grouped by the amount of credit risk and collateral 

remained from the date of the statement of financial position to the date of payment for obligations. 
 

(thous. KZT) 

 

Total amount of 

the maximum 

exposure 

Security Net credit risk 

after collateral 

as of December 31, 2022    

Cash  329,426 - 329,426 

Deposits placed 49,000 - 49,000 

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit or a 

loss; 
507,825 - 507,825 

Fee-based income receivable 1,348 - 1,348 

 887,599 - 887,599 

 

(thous. KZT) 

 

Total amount of 

the maximum 

exposure 

Security Net credit risk 

after collateral 

As of December 31, 2021    

Cash  77,550 - 77,550 

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit or a 

loss; 
245,838 - 245,838 

Fee-based income receivable 95,571 - 95,571 

Other financial assets 160,434 - 160,434 

 579,393 - 579,393 

 

The classification of financial assets by credit ratings as of December 31, 2022 was as follows: 

 
(thous. KZT) 

  

from AAA 

to AAA 

from BB+  

to BB- 

below ВВВ- Unrated Total 

Cash  - 219,070 - 110,356 329,426 

Deposits placed - 49,000 - - 49,000 

Financial assets estimated at fair value 

through a profit or a loss; 
- 499,534 8,291 - 507,825 

Fee-based income receivable - - - 1,348 1,348 
 - 767,604 8,291 111,704 887,599 

 

The classification of financial assets by credit ratings as of December 31, 2021 was as follows: 

 
 (thous. KZT) 

  

from AAA 

to AAA 

from BB+  

to BB- 

below ВВВ- Unrated Total 

Cash  - 1,041 - 76,509 77,550 
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Financial assets estimated at fair value 

through a profit or a loss; 
- 237,147 8,691 - 245,838 

Fee-based income receivable - - - 95,571 95,571 

Other financial assets - - - 160,434 160,434 
 - 238,188 8,691 332,514 579,393 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its payment obligations as they fall due under 

normal or unforeseen conditions.  

 

   Below is an analysis of financial assets and liabilities, grouped based on the period remaining from the date of the 

statement of financial position to the date of payment of obligations. 

 

    (thous. KZT) 

December 31, 2022 Poste restante Less 

than 3 

months 

From 3 to 

12 months 

From 1 to 

5 years 

Total 

Financial Assets:      

Cash  329,426 - - - 329,426 

Deposits placed - - 10,000 39,000 49,000 

Financial assets estimated at fair value 

through a profit or a loss; 
- - 507,825 - 507,825 

Fee-based income receivable - - 1,348 - 1,348 

Total Financial Assets 329,426 - 519,173 39,000 887,599 

      

Financial Liabilities:      

Short-term accounts payable - - (64,635) - (64,635) 

Total Financial Liabilities - - (64,635) - (64,635) 

Net position 329,426 - 454,538 39,000 822,964 

 

    (thous. KZT) 

December 31, 2021 Poste restante Less 

than 3 

months 

From 3 to 

12 months 

From 1 to 

5 years 

Total 

Financial Assets:      

Cash  77,550 - - - 77,550 

Financial assets estimated at fair value 

through a profit or a loss; 
- - 245,838 - 245,838 

Fee-based income receivable - - 95,571 - 95,571 

Other financial assets - 160,434 - - 160,434 

Total Financial Assets 77,550 160,434 341,409 - 579,393 

      

Financial Liabilities:      

Short-term accounts payable - - (6,236) - (6,236) 

Total Financial Liabilities - - (6,236) - (6,236) 

Net position 77,550 160,434 335,173 - 573,157 

 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the probability of losses associated with adverse movements in financial markets (due to changes 

in the market value of financial instruments, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, precious metals). The 

Partnership manages the market risk by periodic measurement of potential losses, which may arise due to 

negative changes of market situation. Market risks include currency, other price and interest rate risks. 
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Currency risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that financial instruments are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates.  
(thous. KZT) 

 December 31, 2022 
 KZT RUB USD Total 

Financial Assets:    

Cash  124,709 - 204,717 329,426 

Deposits placed 49,000 - - 49,000 

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit 

or a loss; 
173,829 333,996 - 507,825 

Fee-based income receivable 1,348 - - 1,348 

Total Financial Assets 348,886 333,996 204,717 887,599 

     
Financial Liabilities:     

Accounts Payable (64,635) - - (64,635) 

Total Financial Liabilities (64,635) - - (64,635) 

Net position 284,251 333,996 204,717 822,964 

 
(thous. KZT) 

 December 31, 2021 
 KZT RUB USD Total 

Financial Assets:    

Cash  77,550 - - 77,550 

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit 

or a loss; 
8,691 237,147  245,838 

Fee-based income receivable 95,571 - - 95,571 

Other financial assets 160,434 - - 160,434 

Total Financial Assets 342,246 237,147 - 579,393 

     
Financial Liabilities:     

Accounts Payable (6,236) - - (6,236) 

Total Financial Liabilities (6,236) - - (6,236) 

Net position 336,010 237,147 - 573,157 

 
 

The main cash flows of the Company in 2022-2021 were generated mainly in KZT, US dollars and Russian 

rubles. As a result, future fluctuations in the KZT exchange rate against foreign currencies may affect the 

carrying value of the Company's monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.  
 

Below is the change in the financial result and equity as a result of possible changes in the exchange rates used 

at the reporting date, while all other variable characteristics remain unchanged: 

 
   (thous. KZT) 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

 

Change in 

exchange rate 

in % 

Influence on  

income before tax 

Change in 

exchange rate 

in % 

Impact on pre-tax 

income 

US dollar (USD) 
+20% 40,943 +20% - 

-20% (40,943) -20% - 

Russian ruble (RUB) 
+20% 66,799 +20% 47,429 

-20% (66,799) -20% (47,429) 

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.  
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The Company may be exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing market rates of interest on its 

financial position and cash flows. Such fluctuations may increase the level of interest margin, but may also 

reduce it or, in the event of an unexpected change in interest rates, lead to losses. In the reporting period, the 

Company's portfolio included government securities in the securities subject to the risk of changes in interest 

rates. Since the coupon interest on them has a fixed annual rate, the risk of changes in interest rates for the 

Company is insignificant. 

 

Other price risks 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a 

result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from the effects of interest rate risk or currency risk), 

whether or not such changes are caused by factors specific to that particular instrument or its issuer, or factors 

affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. Other price risks arise when the Company has a 

long or short position in a financial instrument. 
(thous. KZT) 

  December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021  

 

Increase in equity 

prices by 10% 

Decrease in prices 

for equity 

securities by 10% 

Increase in equity 

prices by 10% 

Decrease in prices 

for equity 

securities by 10% 

Impact on profit before tax 16,554 (16,554) - - 

 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk arising from system failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls 

fail, operational risks can damage reputation, have legal consequences, or result in financial loss. The Company 

cannot assume that all operational risks have been eliminated, but the Company can manage such risks with the 

help of the control system and by monitoring and appropriately responding to potential risks. The control system 

provides for an effective segregation of duties, access rights, approval and reconciliation procedures, staff 

training, and evaluation procedures. 

 

29. Information about the fair value of financial assets 
 

The Company determines the fair value of assets and liabilities presented in the statement of financial position 

using the following fair value hierarchy, which presents the importance of the inputs used for the valuation: 
 

− Level 1: uses (direct) quoted market prices for an identical instrument in an active market; 

− Level 2: Valuation methods based on input data from the observable markets received directly (i.e. the prices 

themselves) or indirectly (i.e. information based on the prices). This category includes instruments evaluated 

by using market quotation of identical or similar instruments in the markets that are considered less active, or 

by using other valuation methods where all important input data can be received either directly or indirectly 

based on market data observable in the market; 

− Level 3: Valuation methods where important observable input data are used. The category includes all 

instruments where valuation methods include input parameters not based on the data from the observable 

markets, and unobservable input data make significant impact on valuation of the instrument. The category 

includes instruments assessed based on quotations for similar instruments in cases when significant 

unobservable corrections or assumptions are required for recording differences between the instruments. 
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Below is a comparison of the carrying amount and fair value by class of the Company's financial instruments. 

The table does not include fair values for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities. 

 
 (thous. KZT) 

  December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

  Balance cost Fair value Balance cost Fair value 

Financial Assets          

Cash  329,426 329,426 77,550 77,550 

Deposits placed 49,000 49,000 - - 

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a 

profit or a loss; 
507,825 507,825 245,838 245,838 

Fee-based income receivable 1,348 1,348 95,571 95,571 

Other financial assets - - 160,434 160,434 

Total Financial Assets 887,599 887,599 579,393 579,393 

Financial Liabilities     

Short-term accounts payable (64,635) (64,635) (6,236) (6,236) 

Total Financial Liabilities (64,635) (64,635) (6,236) (6,236) 

Net position 822,964 822,964 573,157 573,157 

Below is a hierarchy of sources for measurement of the fair value of assets and liabilities: 
 

Disclosure of quantitative information about the hierarchy of estimate sources of the fair value of assets  
(thous. KZT) 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total  

as of 

December 

31,  

2022 

Financial Assets          

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit 

or a loss; 
507,825 - - 507,825 

Total financial assets recorded at fair value 507,825 - - 507,825 

(thous. KZT) 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total  

as of 

December 

31,  

2021 

Financial Assets          

Financial assets estimated at fair value through a profit 

or a loss; 
245,838 - - 245,838 

Total financial assets recorded at fair value 245,838 - - 245,838 

 

As of December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, the Company does not possess financial instruments, fair 

value of which is measured based on valuation methods using non marketable observable data. 

Anticipated fair value of all financial instruments approximately equals their book value. 

Fair value measurement aims to provide the most accurate estimate of the amount at which a financial 

instrument could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties who are independent of each other. 

However, due to the uncertainties and subjectivity of estimates, fair value should not be considered as the cost at 

which assets can be immediately realized or liabilities can be settled. 

 

30. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities  

The table below shows assets and liabilities by their expected maturities.  
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 2022   2021 

 Within one 

year 

 More 

than 

one 

year  

 Total  

 

Within one 

year 

 More 

than one 

year  

 Total  

ASSETS        

Cash  329,426 - 329,426  77,550 - 77,550 

Deposits placed 10,000 39,000 49,000  - - - 

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 
507,825 - 507,825  245,838 - 245,838 

Fee-based income receivable 1,348 - 1,348  95,571 - 95,571 

Inventories - - -  62 - 62 

Other short-term assets 62,252 - 62,252  257,061 - 257,061 

Deferred tax assets 1,995 - 1,995  6,612 - 6,612 

Property, plant and equipment - 5,266 5,266  - 6,774 6,774 

Intangible assets - 1,063 1,063  - 2,223 2,223 

Total assets 912,846 45,329 958,175  682,694 8,997 691,691 

 

  

       

LIABILITIES        

Accounts Payable 64,635 - 64,635  6,236 - 6,236 

Other short-term liabilities 37,132 - 37,132  
              

37,227   - 
37,227 

Total Liabilities 101,767 - 101,767  43,463 - 43,463 

Net position 811,079 45,329 856,408  639,231 8,997 648,228 

 

31. Events after the Reporting Date 

 

The EU member states and other countries have introduced several packages of sanctions against Russia in the 

context of the geopolitical situation that has developed around the situation with Ukraine. The restrictions 

affected the Central Bank of Russia and major Russian banks, as well as several sectors of the Russian 

economy. The economy of Kazakhstan is tied to the Russian economy through close relationships in trade. 

Russia is the largest importer for Kazakhstan with a share of almost 42.1% of total imports. 

As a result, financial markets are experiencing serious volatility. The situation had a particularly negative 

impact on the foreign exchange market. The press service of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 

(hereinafter referred to as the “NBRK”) reported that the situation in the global financial markets continues to 

be extremely unstable. Increased expectations of the inability to quickly resolve the conflict in Europe have a 

multidirectional effect on commodity, currency and stock markets. The NBRK took a number of prompt 

measures to offset the pressure of negative shocks on the country's financial and foreign exchange markets. In 

particular, the NBRK carried out some foreign exchange interventions during trading against the backdrop of 

sharply increased volatility, in order to avoid destabilization of the situation in the domestic foreign exchange 

market, It is worth noting that the measures are executed within the framework of the principles of a floating 

exchange rate. The KZT exchange rate will be formed under the influence of fundamental factors, while in the 

short term KZT volatility will depend on sanctions rhetoric, expectations of domestic participants and dynamics 

in world markets. On April 10, 2023, the NBRK made an extraordinary decision to maintain the base rate at 

16.75%, the base rate was increased in October 2022 from 16% to 16.75%. 
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Since anti-Russian sanctions are still in place and the geopolitical situation is generally unstable, it is extremely 

difficult to predict the full extent and duration of their impact on the Company's business. In general, a prudent 

monetary policy pursued by the Government of Kazakhstan within the framework of inflation targeting can 

effectively prevent the spread of the consequences of an external shock to the country's economy and ensure the 

protection of KZT assets. 

There were no other events that occurred after the reporting date before the date of approval of the Financial 

Statements, which require adjustment or disclosure in the notes to the Financial Statements, in the Company. 

 

32. Capital adequacy 

The Company, being a professional participant in the securities market, must comply with the requirements of 

the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan as to the size of the authorized capital, equity capital adequacy 

and liquidity ratio.  

The main objective of the Company in relation to capital management is to ensure that the Company complies 

with external capital requirements and maintains the capital adequacy ratios required to carry out activities and 

maximize profits for the shareholder. 

The Company manages its capital structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the 

risk characteristics of its activities. 

 

According to the requirements of the NBRK, the capital adequacy ratio for brokerage and (or) dealer companies 

must be at least 1. From January 01, 2022, the liquidity ratio must be at least 1.4.  

As at December 31, 2022, the capital adequacy ratio exceeded the regulatory level. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company's capital adequacy ratio, calculated under the requirements of the 

NBRK, was as follows: 
(thous. KZT) 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

Ready Assets 872,060 387,633 

Liabilities  86,071 43,463 

Net liquid assets 10.13 8.92 

 
The minimum amount of equity capital according to the 

requirements of the NBRK  
327,741 325,636 

Capital adequacy ratio 2.40 1.06 

 
33. Approval of the Financial Statements 
 

These Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 were approved by the Company's 

management on April 28, 2023. 
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Information about assets accepted for management 
 

The Company manages the investment portfolios of the following trusts (hereinafter referred to as the “trusts”): 

− Karazhat Invest Speculative Investment Portfolio Trust (SIPT) JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The issue 

of shares was registered in 2007 by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the regulation and supervision of 

the financial market and financial organizations with the assignment of NIN KZ1C55910018. On July 14, 2022, the 

investment portfolio management agreement with Karazhat Invest Equity Real Estate Investment Trust (Equity REIT) 

JSC was terminated; 

− Zhaiyk Invest DevelopmentEquity Real Estate Investment Trust (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The issue of 

shares was registered in 2017 by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The issue is divided into 100,000 

common shares with assignment of NIN KZ1C60450018 and 25,000 preferred shares with assignment of NIN 

KZ1P60450114. On 09.06.2022, the investment portfolio management agreement with Zhaiyk Invest Development 

Equity REIT JSC was terminated; 

− Car City Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The issue of shares was 

registered in 2018 by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan with the assignment of NIN KZ1C60770019 

(121,150 ordinary shares). On July 14, 2022, the investment portfolio management agreement with Car City Equity 

REIT JSC was terminated; 

− KeruenCity Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The issue of shares was 

registered in 2018 by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan with the assignment of NIN KZ1C60780018 

(122,000 ordinary shares). 

− Mega Center Plus Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The 

issue of shares was registered in 2018 by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan with the 

assignment of NIN KZ1C60640014 (1,000,000 ordinary shares). On May 03, 2022, the investment 

portfolio management agreement with Mega Center Plus Equity REIT JSC was terminated; 

− TsUM Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The issue of shares 

was registered in 2020 by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the regulation and development of 

the financial market with the assignment of ISIN KZ1С00013747 (2,000,000 ordinary shares) and 

ISIN1P00013734 (400,000 preferred shares). On June 1, 2022, the investment portfolio management 

agreement with TsUM Equity REIT JSC was terminated; 
− Pozitiv Nedvizhimost Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). The issue of 

shares was registered in 2013 by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the regulation and supervision of the 

financial market and financial organizations with the assignment of ISIN KZ1C59410015.  

− Alba Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). 

The issue of shares was registered in 2014 by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the regulation and 

supervision of the financial market and financial organizations with the assignment of ISIN KZ1C59770012. On May 

19, 2022, the investment portfolio management agreement with Alba Equity REIT JSC was terminated; 
− Saikhan Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”).  

The issue of shares was registered in 2014 by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the regulation and 

supervision of the financial market and financial organizations with the assignment of ISIN KZ1C59750014. On May 

19, 2022, the investment portfolio management agreement with Saikhan Equity REIT JSC was terminated; 
− Mizar Mutual Speculative Investment Portfolio Trust CJSC established in 2021 in the form of an investment fund 

based on the Decision of the Board of Directors of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC 

(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. w\n dated July 27, 2021) and in pursuance of Law of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan No. 576-II dated July 07, 2004 “On Investment and Venture Funds”. On May 19, 2022, the 

assets were transferred based on the decision of the sole shareholder of Mizar MSIPT CJSC. 
 

Joint stock investment trust - a joint stock company, the exclusive activity of which is the accumulation and 

investment, under the requirements of the law on investment funds and its investment declaration, of money 

contributed by the shareholders of this company in payment for its shares, as well as assets received as a result 

of such investment.  

 

The management of the management company is responsible for preparation of reports on assets taken into 

management and disclosure of notes in relation to the following 
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1) keeping records and reporting on the investment fund assets and operations with them;  

2) composition of the investment fund assets;  

3) the procedure for estimation of the value of the investment fund assets, as well as determination of the 

estimated value of the unit, the price of placement and redemption of units of the unit investment fund;  

4) transactions made with the investment fund assets;  

5) the procedure and results of reconciliations with the custodian of the value, movement and composition of 

the investment fund assets, the estimated value of shares in the event of their subsequent placement or 

redemption.  

 

Basis for the preparation of the Financial Statements for assets under management 

 

Keeping records and reporting on the assets of investment funds and transactions with them 
 

The management company maintains accounting records for real estate investment funds and unit investment 

funds (hereinafter referred to as the Fund) under the current legislation on investment funds and under the 

principles and legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan in the field of accounting. 
 

The Financial Statements of the Funds have been prepared by the management company based on the fair value 

principle to financial instruments and other property reported at revalued amounts. 
 

The attached Financial Statements of the Funds have been prepared by the management company based on the 

going concern principle, which implies the sale of assets and the repayment of liabilities in the course of the 

Company's management of the investment operations and investment disposal operations. The ability of the 

management company to realize the investment fund assets, as well as all of its activities in the future, may be 

significantly affected by current and future economic conditions in Kazakhstan, therefore, the Financial 

Statements of the Funds prepared by the management company do not contain adjustments necessary if the 

Funds could not continue its activities, observing the principle of continuity.  

The attached Financial Statements have been prepared by the management company on an accrual basis, which 

is ensured by the recognition of the results of transactions with assets and transactions performed, as well as 

events resulting from the investment activities of the Funds and having a significant impact on its financial 

position, upon their completion and regardless of the time of payment. All transactions and events are presented 

by the management company in the accounting records of the Funds and are included in their Financial 

Statements, in the periods to which they relate.  

The accompanying Financial Statements include all transactions and events that the management company 

recognizes. They meet the definition of the elements of the Financial Statements and the conditions for their 

recognition: 

− the management company is largely confident that any economic benefit associated with the investment will 

be received or lost by it; 

− The investee has a price or value that can be measured reliably. 

 

Income from investment activities is assessed and recognized by the management company in the accounting of 

investment funds for acquired assets, and presented in the Financial Statements on an accrual basis at the cost of 

sales received or receivable and based on established contractual relations between the management company, 

the Funds and counterparties on investment deals. Income and expenses caused by the same investment 

transactions or events in the activities of the Funds are recognized by the management company at the same 

time. Income from investments and transactions with securities and other Funds' assets is recognized by the 

management company if the stages of completion of transactions by the reporting date are determined with a 

greater degree of certainty. The income of the Funds is not recognized by the management company based on 

interim payments and advances received.  
 

The implementation of its services to the Funds is carried out by the management company based on the 

application of contractual prices and tariffs established by it independently. Any commission expenses, general, 

administrative and other expenses, as well as expenses for the sale of services of the management company, are 

presented in the statements of changes in the net assets of investment funds prepared by the management 

company at each reporting date. 
/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 

  



Private Asset Management JSC 

 

Page 41 from 62 

 

Accounting and presentation of the money received from the shareholders of the Funds in the framework of the 

investment activities of the management company in the Financial Statements is organized and made in the 

accounting registers separately from its own funds. All operations with investments and securities acquired at 

the expense of shareholders' assets are presented in the Financial Statements by the management company on 

separate accounts opened for this purpose. 

The Management Company developed internal documents on the investment activities of the Funds and them 

approved by the Decision of the Board of Directors. They determine and govern the conditions and procedure 

for its work; activities of the executive bodies, officials and employees of the management company, as well as 

the conditions and procedure for the management company to perform operations with the assets of investment 

funds.  

In accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the management 

company, the authorized body governing their activities has established certain regulatory requirements required 

for compliance by companies engaged in asset management of investment funds.  

In accordance with the norms of the current legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the management 

company is not entitled to perform the following actions in relation to the investment funds managed by it:  

- sell (transfer) the assets belonging to it to the investment fund assets, with the exception of transactions 

concluded in the trading system of the stock exchange by open trading (subparagraph 4) of paragraph 1 of 

Article 41 of the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Investment and Venture Funds"). 

 

Composition of investment fund assets 

The Investment Declaration establishes a list of financial instruments, investment limits, where the Management 

Company invests the property of the Funds included in the investment portfolio. 

The Funds' assets should not include:  

− shares or units issued by investment funds managed by the management company of this investment fund;  

− assets issued (provided) by the management company of this investment fund;  

− shares or stakes in the authorized capital of non-profit organizations; 

−  financial instruments of one type (issue) of one legal entity in the amount exceeding fifteen percent of the 

total number of placed financial instruments of this type (issue), except for government securities and agency 

bonds of financial agencies of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 

Most of the assets of investment funds managed by the management company are the following financial 

instruments: non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan, requirements for reverse 

REPO operations, investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies, investments in 

other assets (land plots and objects under construction and reconstructed real estate objects). 

 

The procedure for assessment of the value of investment fund assets 

According to the Investment Declaration of the management company, the value of the property investment 

objects included in the investment portfolio of the Funds and, accordingly, the estimated value of investments, 

may increase or decrease, and the results of investments in the past do not determine the income of the Funds in 

the future.  

 

The state also does not guarantee the return on investment, and statements by any person about an increase in 

the value of invested assets in the future will be regarded by the management company as nothing more than 

“assumptions”. 

 

The management company and the Funds recognize that as a result of active operations made by the company, 

there is a risk that the amount of Funds' assets transferred to the management of the management company may 

become less than its original value, while the management company undertakes to make every effort in its 

power to reduce this risk.  
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Besides, the management company does not guarantee the return on investment, but undertakes to make every 

effort to ensure a stable increase in the value of the shares. The tax system of the Republic of Kazakhstan is in 

the process of development and is subject to various interpretations and constant changes, as a result, the current 

interpretation and explanation of existing laws and procedures may be changed in the future. Moreover, these 

changes may be retroactive. The management company warns the holders of shares and shareholders that they 

must take the risks associated with taxation into account when making investment decisions. 

Private Asset Management JSC, as a management company under a trust management agreement, accepts 

money from investors for management and subsequently invests them in assets under the approved Investment 

Rules for the purpose to generate income and reduce the risks arising from risky investment. 

The value of the assets in the Funds, the value of the shares is determined by the management company in order 

to arrange the accounting of the Funds' assets, to draw up reports to shareholders, to comply with the investment 

declarations of the Funds.  

 

The management company determines the value of the Funds' assets in national currency. The value of the 

Funds' assets is assessed by the management company in strict accordance with the current legislation of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan and the regulatory legal acts of the authorized body. The value of the assets and 

liabilities of the Funds is determined minus the expenses and remuneration of the management company and 

other persons ensuring the functioning of the Funds, which are subject to payment from the Funds' assets. 

 

The Funds' assets which are financial instruments included in the official list of trade organizers, are assessed 

according to the rules for assessment of the trade organizer. 

 

Financial instruments not included in the list of trade organizers are assessed by the management company 

under the requirements of the current legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 

The Funds' assets that are not financial instruments are assessed under the procedure established by the current 

legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, i.e.: 

- property in the form of shares in organizations, land plots, buildings and structures, construction in progress, 

design estimates, land use and subsoil use rights, other assets in the form of property based on acts of 

independent appraisers, both at the date of project implementation and annually. 

The purpose of the investment policy of the management company is to increase the value of the Fund's assets 

as a result of investment activities performed by investment of the Fund's assets in land plots, buildings, 

structures, real estate objects under construction and reconstruction, design estimates, land use and subsoil use 

rights, financial instruments and other property within the framework of the Rules of the Fund and the current 

legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

In accordance with the Rules of the Fund, a shareholder has the right to: 

− receive information on the activities of the Fund under the current legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan; 

− exercise control over the activities of the management company; 

− demand to convene the General Meeting of Shareholders under the current legislation of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan; 

− acquire and alienate the shares of the Fund belonging to him/her on the terms and in the manner established 

by the Rules of the Fund; 

− receive money from the sale of the Fund's assets;  

− receive dividends on shares in the manner and cases established by the Rules of the Fund;  

− participate in the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Fund in the manner prescribed by the Rules of the 

Fund;  

− receive information from the management company on the composition and value of the Fund's net assets, as 

well as on the value of the Fund's shares, under the Rules of the Fund and the requirements of the legislation 

of the Republic of Kazakhstan;  

− other rights under the Rules of the Fund and the current legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
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Karazhat Invest Speculative Investment Portfolio Trust (SIPT) JSC 

 

Karazhat Invest SIPT JSC was organized in 2007 and registered as a legal entity by the Department of Justice of 

the city of Almaty, No. 87184-1910-AO dated 23.08.2007. 
 
 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 

According to the investment portfolio management agreement No. 01/12-03 dated March 12, 2014, Private 

Asset Management JSC is the management company of Karazhat Invest SIPT JSC  
State regulation of the activities of the management company Private Asset Management JSC and the custodian 

BankCenterCredit JSC is performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. On July 14, 2022, the 

trust management agreement was terminated. 
 

Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Investment Fund of Karazhat Invest SIPT JSC  

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 129,999 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - 25,309 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - - 

including: - - 

Land parcels - - 

Buildings and constructions - - 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - - 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets - 155,308 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - - 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 60 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 60 

Total net investment fund assets - 155,248 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Investment Fund of Karazhat Invest SIPT JSC 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - 161,834 

Receipts of client’s assets - - 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations - - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation  - 38,083 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 37,132 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - 951 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency   

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes - 38,083 
  - 

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - - 

Seizure of client’s assets - - 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation  - 34,627 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities   

from foreign currency revaluation - 34,459 

other expenses from revaluation - 168 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - 26 

Fee and commission expenses - 10,016 

including:     
to the investment portfolio manager - 2,400 

to a broker-dealer - - 

to a custodian and registrar - 571 

to other persons - 375 

Other expenses - 6,670 

Total expenses - 44,669 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited)   

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts   

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 155,248 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - (6,586) 
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Zhaiyk Invest DevelopmentEquity Real Estate Investment Trust 
 

Equity REIT Zhaiyk Invest Development JSC was re-registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by 

the Department of Justice of Almaty city, certificate of re-registration 070440002449 dated 24.10.2016. 

 
According to the Equity REIT asset management agreement No. 04/10-03 dated March 10, 2017, Private Asset 

Management JSC is the management company of Zhaiyk Invest Development Equity REIT JSC. On June 09, 

2022, the trust management agreement was terminated. 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian - JSC "Eurasian Bank" is performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Zhaiyk Invest Development Equity REIT JSC  

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 3,486 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - 46,986 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - 194,817 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - 3,570,111 

including:   

Land parcels - 182,371 

Buildings and constructions - 3,387,740 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - - 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets - 3,815,400 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - 90,000 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 55,357 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 145,357 

Total net investment fund assets - 3,670,043 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Zhaiyk Invest Development Equity REIT JSC 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - 4,059,314 

Receipts of client’s assets - - 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations - - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - 153,799 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 106,913 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - 46,886 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - 99 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - 2,059,257 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - 32,000 

Total incomes - 2,245,155 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - 1,080,000 

Seizure of client’s assets - 1,287,249 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 197,440 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 96,752 

other expenses from revaluation - 100,688 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - 1,193 

Fee and commission expenses - 16,112 

including: - - 

to the investment portfolio manager - 5,400 

to a broker-dealer - - 

to a custodian and registrar - 1,803 

to other persons - 8,909 

Other expenses - 52,432 

Total expenses - 2,634,426 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited)   

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts   

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 3,670,043 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - (389,271) 
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Car City Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC 
 

Car City Equity REIT JSC is registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the Office of Justice of 

the Auezov district by the Department of Justice of the city of Almaty, certificate of state registration of a legal 

entity dated 21.06.2018. 

 

According to the Equity REIT asset management agreement No. 08/24-09 dated 24.09.2018, Private Asset 

Management JSC is the management company of Car City Equity REIT JSC. On July 14, 2022, the trust 

management agreement was terminated. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian BankCenterCredit JSC is performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Car City Equity REIT JSC 

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 

31, 2022 

December 

31, 2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 8 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - 44,213 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - 396,016 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - 6,047,918 

including:   

Land parcels - 752,844 

Buildings and constructions - 5,295,074 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - - 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets - 6,488,155 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - - 

Loans received - 3,027,821 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 148,461 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 3,176,282 

Total net investment fund assets - 3,311,873 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/  



Private Asset Management JSC 

 

Page 48 from 62 

 

Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Car City Equity REIT JSC 

for 2022 

  (in thous. KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - 2,697,683 

Receipts of client’s assets - - 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - 92 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations - - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - 216,150 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 10,985 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - 205,165 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - 1,162,679 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes - 1,378,921 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - 245,000 

Seizure of client’s assets - 109,686 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 164,582 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 9,873 

other expenses from revaluation - 154,709 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Fee and commission expenses - 29,247 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager - 14,400 

to a broker-dealer - - 

to a custodian and registrar - 3,489 

to other persons - 11,358 

Other expenses - 216,216 

Total expenses - 764,731 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited) - - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts - - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 3,311,873 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - 614,190 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/  
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KeruenCity Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC  
 

KeruenCity Equity REIT JSC is registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the Department of 

Justice of Aktobe city by the Department of Justice of Aktobe region, certificate of state registration of a legal 

entity dated 16.07.2018 
 

According to the Equity REIT asset management agreement No. 09/27-09 dated 27.09.2018, Private Asset 

Management JSC is KeruenCity Equity REIT JSC. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian - JSC "Eurasian Bank" is performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

KeruenCity Equity REIT JSC 

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents 43,466 10,761 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - 30,694 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment 19,332,687 19,258,289 

including:   

Land parcels 730,734 733,639 

Buildings and constructions 16,923,053 16,896,618 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment 1,678,900 1,628,032 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets 19,376,153 19,299,744 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - 767,883 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable 906,441 - 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities 146,219 151,253 

Total Liabilities 1,052,660 919,136 

Total net investment fund assets 18,323,493 18,380,608 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

KeruenCity Equity REIT JSC 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period 18,380,608 19,390,406 

Receipts of client’s assets 30,583 107,100 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on:   

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations 5,457 3,138 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation 71,354 203,424 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other income (expenses) from revaluation 71,354 203,424 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property 4,006 377 3,037 802 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes 4,113,771 3,351,464 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares 2,237,173 738,718 

Seizure of client’s assets 1,005,246 1,320,011 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 1,966,800 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - 47 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other expenses from revaluation - 1,966,753 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency   

Fee and commission expenses 44,409 50,777 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager 18,000 20,400 

to a broker-dealer 153 228 

custodian and central depository 7,207 7,874 

to other persons 19,049 22,275 

Other expenses 884,058 284,956 

Total expenses 4,170,886 4,361,262 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited)  - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts  - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period 18,323,493 18,380,608 

Changes in the net investment fund assets (57,115) (1,009,798) 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/  
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Mega Center Plus Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC 
 

Mega Center Plus Equity REIT JSC was re-registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the Office 

of Justice of the Bostandyk district by the Department of Justice of the city of Almaty, certificate of state re-

registration of a legal entity dated 13.12.2017. 
 

According to the asset management agreement of the joint-stock real estate investment fund No. 07/26-02 dated 

February 26, 2018, Private Asset Management JSC is the management company of Mega Center Plus Equity 

REIT JSC. On May 03, 2022, the trust management agreement was terminated. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian - Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan JSC is performed by the National Bank of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Mega Center Plus Equity REIT JSC 

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 32,793 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - 195,088 

Accounts Receivable - 572,375 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - 129,891,322 

including:   

Land parcels - 10,764,613 

Buildings and constructions - 119,126,709 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - - 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets - 130,691,578 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - 951,990 

Loans received - 5,662,843 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 7,215,965 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - 2,763,663 

Total Liabilities - 16,594,461 

Total net investment fund assets - 114,097,117 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Mega Center Plus Equity REIT JSC 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - 110,453,446 

Receipts of client’s assets - - 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on:   

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations - 92,406 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - 2,737,906 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - 2,737,906 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - 14,640,826 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - 2,858 

Total incomes - 17,473,996 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - - 

Seizure of client’s assets - 9,027,891 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities   

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
  

Expenses from revaluation - 3,637,652 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other expenses from revaluation - 3,637,652 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Fee and commission expenses - 133,200 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager - 20,000 

to a broker-dealer - 1,341 

to a custodian and registrar - 29,925 

to other persons - 81,934 

Other expenses - 1,031,582 

Total expenses - 13,830,325 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited) - - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts - - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 114,097,117 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - 3,643,671 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 



Private Asset Management JSC 

 

Page 53 from 62 

 

TsUM Equity Real Estate Investment Trust 
 

TsUM Equity REIT JSC is registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the Department for 

Registration of Rights to Real Estate and Legal Entities of the branch of the non-profit joint-stock company 

State Corporation Government for Citizens in the Karaganda region, certificate of state registration of a legal 

entity dated 12.02.2020. 
 

According to the asset management agreement of the joint-stock real estate investment fund No. w/n dated 

19.03.2020, Private Asset Management JSC is the management company of TsUM Equity REIT JSC. On June 

01, 2022, the trust management agreement was terminated. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian - SB Sberbank JSC is performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Investment Fund JSC Equity REIT TSUM 

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 923 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - 165,196 

Accounts Receivable - 637,860 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - 5,413,745 

including:   

Land parcels - 1,065,462 

Buildings and constructions - 4,057,875 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - 290,408 

Other assets - 4,528 

Total Assets - 6,222,252 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - 250 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 458,861 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 459,111 

Total net investment fund assets - 5,763,141 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/  
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Investment Fund JSC Equity REIT TSUM 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - 5,711,128 

Receipts of client’s assets - - 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations - 7,673 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - 262,584 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - 262,584 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - 3,142,643 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes - 3,412,900 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - 1,252,800 

Seizure of client’s assets - 1,693,610 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 330,296 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other expenses from revaluation - 330,296 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Fee and commission expenses - 19,094 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager - 12,000 

to a broker-dealer - 104 

to a custodian and registrar - 3,047 

to other persons - 3,943 

Other expenses - 65,087 

Total expenses - 3,360,887 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited)   

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts   

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 5,763,141 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - 52,013 
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POSITIVE REAL ESTATE Equity Real Estate Investment Trust 
 

POSITIVE REAL ESTATEESTATE REIT is registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the 

Department of Justice of the Medeu district of the Department of Justice of the city of Almaty, a certificate of 

state registration of a legal entity dated 06.02.2013 
 

According to the asset management agreement of the joint-stock real estate investment fund No. b / w dated 

December 14, 2021, Private Asset Management JSC is the management company of POSITIVE REAL 

ESTATE REIT. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian - JSC Jusan Bank JSC is perormed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

POSITIVE REAL ESTATE Equity Real Estate Investment Trust 
as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents 1,478 - 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable 352,628 517,345 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment 2,419,577 2,294,536 

including:   

Land parcels 1,157,694 1,008,005 

Buildings and constructions 1,260,977 1,282,804 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment 906 3,727 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets 2,773,683 2,811,881 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - - 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable 22,602 35,663 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities 22,602 35,663 

Total net investment fund assets 2,751,081 2,776,218 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

POSITIVE REAL ESTATE Equity Real Estate Investment Trust 
for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period 2,776,218 - 

Receipts of client’s assets - 2,549,461 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations  - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation 125,041 - 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other income (expenses) from revaluation 125,041 - 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property 528,720 227,005 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes 182,668 - 

Total incomes 836,429 2,776,466 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares 86,811 - 

Seizure of client’s assets - - 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - - 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other expenses from revaluation - - 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Fee and commission expenses 10,854 248 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager 6,000 48 

to a broker-dealer - - 

custodian and central depository 4,238 200 

to other persons 616 - 

Other expenses 763,901 - 

Total expenses 861,566 248 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited) - - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts - - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period 2,751,081 2,776,218 

Changes in the net investment fund assets (25,137) 2,776,218 
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Alba Equity Real Estate Investment Trust 
 

Alba Equity REIT JSC is registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the Department of Justice of 

the city of Almaty, certificate of state registration of a legal entity dated 24.03.2014. 
 

According to the asset management agreement of the joint-stock real estate investment fund No. w / n dated 

28.06.2021, Private Asset Management JSC is the management company of Alba Equity REIT JSC. On May 

19, 2022, the trust management agreement was terminated. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Alba Equity Real Estate Investment Trust 

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 681 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - 25,850 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - 587,953 

including:   

Land parcels - 222,161 

Buildings and constructions - 365,792 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - - 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets - 614,484 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - - 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 2,007 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 2,007 

Total net investment fund assets - 612,477 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Alba Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - - 

Receipts of client’s assets - 641,958 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations  - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - - 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - - 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - 18,734 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes - 660,692 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - 39,569 

Seizure of client’s assets - - 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 1,029 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other expenses from revaluation - 1,029 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Fee and commission expenses - 2,912 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager - 1,282 

to a broker-dealer - - 

to a custodian and registrar - 483 

to other persons - 1,147 

Other expenses - 4,705 

Total expenses - 48,215 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited) - - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts - - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 612,477 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - 612,477 
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Saikhan Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC 
 

Saikhan Equity REIT JSC was registered in the form of Equity REIT as a legal entity by the Department of 

Justice of Almaty city, certificate of state registration of a legal entity dated 24.03.2014. 
According to the asset management agreement of the joint-stock real estate investment fund No. w / n dated 

28.06.2021, Private Asset Management JSC is the management company of Saikhan Equity REIT JSC. On May 

19, 2022, the trust management agreement was terminated. 
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC performed by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Saikhan Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC 

as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 501 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - - 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - 34,049 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - 717,189 

including:   

Land parcels - 123,148 

Buildings and constructions - 592,750 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - 1,291 

Other assets   

Total Assets - 751,739 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - - 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 2,870 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 2,870 

Total net investment fund assets - 748,869 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/  

Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Saikhan Equity Real Estate Investment Trust JSC 

for 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - - 

Receipts of client’s assets - 814,248 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations  - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - - 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - - 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - 54,045 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes - 868,293 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - 106,631 

Seizure of client’s assets - - 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 1,052 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - - 

other expenses from revaluation - 1,052 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - - 

Fee and commission expenses - 3,102 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager - 1,282 

to a broker-dealer - - 

to a custodian and registrar - 483 

to other persons - 1,337 

Other expenses - 8,639 

Total expenses - 119,424 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited) - - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts - - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 748,869 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - 748,869 
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Mizar Mutual Speculative Investment Portfolio Trust CJSC  
 

Mizar MSIPT CJSC was organized in 2021 based on the decision of Private Asset Management JSC dated July 

27, 2021. 
According to the rules of the Mizar MSIPT CJSC, the Fund's management company is Private Asset 

Management JSC. On May 19, 2022, based on the decision of the sole shareholder of the Mizar MSIPT 

CJSC, the assets were transferred according to the assets transfer acceptance w / n dated April 12, 

2022.  
 

State regulation of the activities of the management company - Private Asset Management JSC and the 

custodian - Eurasian Bank JSC is performed by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the regulation and 

development of the financial market. 

 
Balance sheet for investment fund assets (other clients) 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

Mizar Mutual Speculative Investment Portfolio Trust CJSC 
as of December 31, 2022 

  

(in thous. 

KZT) 

Name of items 
December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

ASSETS   

Cash flows and their equivalents - 25,807 

Refined precious metals - - 

Bank deposits - - 

Securities, including: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

depositary receipts - - 

Units of mutual investment funds - - 

Investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock companies - 4,291,059 

Requirements for reverse REPO transactions - - 

Accounts Receivable - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Property, plant and equipment - - 

including:   

Land parcels - - 

Buildings and constructions - - 

Real estate objects under construction and reconstruction - - 

Other property, plant and equipment - - 

Other assets - - 

Total Assets - 4,316,866 
   

LIABILITIES   

Redemption of investment fund securities - - 

Dividends payable - - 

Loans received - - 

Derivative financial instruments - - 

Accounts Payable - 1,544 

Liabilities under REPO transactions - - 

Other Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities - 1,544 

Total net investment fund assets - 4,315,322 

/Seal: Almir Consulting LLP * For Auditor’s Reports/ 
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Profit and loss statement on the investment fund assets 

Investment Portfolio Manager - Private Asset Management JSC 

 Mizar Mutual Speculative Investment Portfolio Trust CJSC 

for 2022 

  (in thous. KZT) 

Name of items 2022 2021 

Net investment fund assets at the beginning of the period - - 

Receipts of client’s assets - 4,243,477 

Proceeds from the placement of securities (shares) of the investment fund - - 

Income in the form of interest on placed deposits - - 

Income in the form of remuneration (coupon and (or) discount) on securities - - 

including on: - - 

government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

securities of international financial organizations - - 

non-government securities of foreign issuers - - 

securities of foreign states - - 

non-government securities of issuers of the Republic of Kazakhstan - - 

other securities - - 

Income from reverse REPO operations  - 

Income in the form of dividends on shares - - 

Income (expenses) from the purchase and sale of securities (net) - - 

Income from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Income from revaluation - 92,030 

including:   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 2,811 

other income (expenses) from revaluation - 89,219 

Income from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - 30,977 

Proceeds from the Lease of Property - - 

Interest income from other financial assets - - 

Other incomes - - 

Total incomes - 4,366,484 
   

Repurchased securities (shares) of an investment fund - - 

Expenses on paid dividends on investment fund shares - - 

Seizure of client’s assets - - 

Expenses from the purchase and sale of securities - - 

Expenses from investments in the capital of legal entities that are not joint-stock 

companies 
- - 

Expenses from revaluation - 41,394 

including   

from changes in the fair value of securities - - 

from foreign currency revaluation - 41,394 

other expenses from revaluation   

Expenses from the purchase and sale of foreign currency - 31 

Fee and commission expenses - 8,237 

including:   

to the investment portfolio manager - 5,323 

to a broker-dealer - - 

to a custodian and registrar - 2,873 

to other persons - 41 

Other expenses - 1,500 

Total expenses - 51,162 

Amounts not clarified (erroneously credited) - - 

Return of not clarified (erroneously) credited amounts - - 

Net investment fund assets as of the end of the period - 4,315,322 

Changes in the net investment fund assets - 4,315,322 
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